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1. Name of Property

historic name Little Boar's Head Historic District

other names/site number N/A
2. Location
parts of Atlantic Ave., Chapel Road; Ocean Boulevard;
street & number Sea Road; Willow Ave. N not for publication
city or town ____North Hampton N/A O vicinity
state New Hampshire code MNH county Rockinghain code 015 zip code 03862

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this [J nomination
[] request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
[J meets [] does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant

[J nationally [ statewide [J tocally. (D See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Mé. Durtton Apuil 23, 1944

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

NEW HAMPSHIRE
State of Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [J meets [J does not meet the National Register criteria. (D See continuation sheet for additional
comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification N .-
| hereby; cemfy that the propenty is: '\"’Slgnature of the Keepe Date of Action
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[ See continuation sheet. e T S DU 4R &) A (=N -
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[ determined eligible for the L, :
National Register
[J See continuation sheet. .

[J determined not eligible for the
National Register.

[J removed from the National
Register.

O other, (explain:)
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Name of Property

Rockingham Co., NH
County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box)

& private -' (1 building(s)
O public-local B district
public-State 1 site

O structure
0] object

[J public-Federal

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter “'N/A” it property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontributing
103 _ 28 buildings
7 sites
2 . ' 7 structures
1 objects
113 35 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in' the National Register

0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

.DOMESTIC: single dwelling

DOMESTIC: secondary structure

COMMERCE/TRADE: restaurant

'RELIGION: religious facility

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC: single dwelling
DOMESTIC: secondary structure
COMMERCE/TRADE: restaurant

-RELIGION: religious facility

LANDSCAPE: garden

LANDSCAPE: garden

RECREATION: outdoor recreation

COMMERCE/TRADE: warehouse

RECREATION: outdoor recreation

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

LATE 19th & 20th CENTURY REVIVALS:

Colonial Revival

LATE VICTORIAN: Shingle Style

Narrative Description

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation __ STONE
WOOD

walls

BRICK

other

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)



Little Boar's Head Historic District Rockingham -Co., NH

Name of Property County and State

8. Statement of Signiﬁcance

Applicable National Register Criteria "Areas of Significance
(Mark x in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property (Enter categories from instructions)
for National Register listing.) RECREATION
Bl A Property is associated with events that have made ARCHITECTURE
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

O B Property is associated with the lives of persons

significant in our past.

Bl C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics

of a type, period, or method of construction or

represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and . o
distinguishable entity whose components lack Period of Significance
individual distinction. c.1800-1949

J D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations I
(Mark *“'x™ in all the boxes that apply.) S'gg';fant Dates
Property is:

[J A owned by a religious institution or used for

religious purposes. '
Significant Person

0 B removed from its original location. (Compilete if Criterion B is marked above)
N/A

[0 C a birthplace or grave.

Cultural Affiliation
OJ D a cemetery. N/A

[0 E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

O F a commemorative property.

[1 G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance Architect/Builder .
within the past 50 years. Shepley, Rutan & Coolidge

Stickney & Austin

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibilography
(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)
Previous documentation on file (NPS): Primary location of additional data:
[ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 [] State Historic Preservation Office
CFR 67) has been requested [ Other State agency
O] previously listed in the National Register [J Federal agency
O] previously determined eligible by the National [J Local government
Register [J University
(0 designated a National Historic Landmark [ Other
[ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey Name of repository:
#

[J recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property ___approximately 150

UTM References

(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

1 | | | [ 1 L | J | | 3| L 1 L1 J | [ | l 1
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
2 i Li 1 1 | l J ] L | 4| l 1 L1 | 1 ] J 1 |

El See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

~11. Form Prepared By

nameftile Lisa B. Mausolf, Preservation Consultant

February 1999

orgariization date
street & number ___20 Terrace Park telephone _(781) 942-2173
city or town Reading state MA 2ip code 01867

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:
Continuation Sheets
Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s Iocati;)n.
A Sketch map for historic districts and propertiés having large acreage or numerous resources.
Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

various - see continuation sheets
name

street & number telephone

city or town state zip code
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Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing
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of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of

Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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Architectural Classification (continued):

EARLY REPUBLIC: Federal

MID-19th CENTURY: Greek Revival

LATE VICTORIAN: Gothic

LATE VICTORIAN: Italianate

LATE VICTORIAN: Second Empire

LATE VICTORIAN: Queen Anne

LATE VICTORIAN: Stick/Eastlake

LATE 19th and 20th CENTURY REVIVALS: Classical Revival

LATE 19th and EARLY 20th CENTURY AMERICAN MOVEMENTS: Bungalow

Matenals (continued):
foundation: BRICK
walls: STUCCO
SYNTHETICS
ALUMINUM
STONE

rooff SLATE
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The Little Boar’s Head Historic District is located at the eastern end of the Town of North
Hampton, New Hampshire and consists of an area of approximately 150 acres including almost
one-and-a-half miles of coastline stretching roughly from south of the Rye town line and Bass
Beach to the bathhouses north of the Hampton town line. The historic district is composed
primarily of late nineteenth and early twentieth century summer cottages, houses and bathhouses,
but also includes several early 19th century dwellings and fishhouses and dwellings constructed
within the last fifty years. In total, the district is comprised of eighty-eight (88) properties,
including 103 contributing buildings; 28 noncontributing buildings (of which 25 are
noncontributing due to age and 3 are noncontributing due to alteration), 7 contributing sites, 7
noncontributing structures, 2 contributing structures and 1 contributing object.

Ocean Boulevard (US }-A) extends the length of the district in a roughly north-south direction,
following the undulations of the coastline, curving around peninsulas known as Fox Hill Point and
Little Boar’s Head. Atlantic Avenue (NH Rt. 111) enters from the west, terminating at Ocean
Boulevard. Atlantic Avenue is set on a fairly level plateau, the area to the south, bordered by Sea
Road, drops in elevation under the Head, forming a subarea known locally as “under the hill”. To
the north of Atlantic Avenue, Willow Avenue is a cut-through road which commences and
terminates at Ocean Boulevard, while Chapel Road extends west of Willow Avenue. The majority
of the terrain is fairly level. A large conservation area, Little River Marsh, is located south of
Atlantic Avenue and Sea Road while Chapel Brook drains the area to the north of Willow Avenue.

The ocean is a major visual element and determining factor throughout the district, with buildings
sited to take advantage of spectacular views of the open sea. From Fox Hill Point south, the
shoreline has been reinforced by a boulder seawall. The concrete seawall at the southern end of the
district was constructed in 1935. A walking path extends along the coastline north from the
fishhouses, flanked by nine benches and grassy areas in some areas while climbing over the
bouldered seawall in others. Stone walls mark the front lot line for many properties but are
especially prevalent on Ocean Boulevard and Willow Avenue. There are examples of both granite
ashlar and rubblestone construction; many of the walls have stone or concrete caps. In a few cases
there are front walls or retaining walls of brick or concrete.

Historic views of the district dating to the 19th century reveal a landscape which is considerably
more open than that seen today. Several properties on Atlantic Avenue retain large open fields and
the land on the south side of Atlantic Avenue has generally been left clear. In addition to mature
trees, many of the larger properties are enhanced by extensive landscaping including flowering
shrubs, perennial plantings and expansive lawn areas. The smaller lots generally allow for little
more than foundation plantings. Concentrations of rosa rugosas are found along the shore road
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and sea walls, as well as a few Red Cedars. The most impressive manmade landscape within the
district is undoubtedly Fuller Gardens on Willow Avenue, a two-acre area laid out in a series of
formal gardens including 1,500 rose bushes commissioned by Governor Alvan T. Fuller beginning
in the early 1920s. A smaller flower garden just northeast of the fish houses on Ocean Boulevard
has been planted continuously since the 1930s and is maintained by the Rye Beach-Little Boar’s
Head Garden Club and is supported in part by funds from the Little Boar’s Head Precinct.

With the exception of Fuller Gardens, Union Chapel, the former Bunny’s restaurant and the State
Park Area, the buildings in the district are exclusively residential. Little Boar’s Head’s zoning,
established in 1937, predates that of the town by seven years. Lot sizes vary considerably with the
smallest lots, of less than one acre, generally concentrated along Atlantic Avenue and between
Atlantic Avenue and Sea Road. The twelve fish houses are without any acreage to speak of, and
are surrounded by state land. The thirteen bath houses at the southern end of the district are also
located on a small wedge of land between Ocean Boulevard and the beach. Concentrated in the
area bounded by Willow Avenue and Ocean Boulevard are a series of impressive early 20th
century summer “cottages” set on large lots measuring between one and six acres with the mansion
houses set back behind deep lawns. Several large lots exceeding five acres and incorporating large
fields are found on the north side of Atlantic Avenue, at the western edge of the distrnict. These
were associated with 19th century farmhouses. Elsewhere the houses are generally set fairly close
to the street. In the triangle bounded by Atlantic Avenue, Ocean Boulevard and Sea Road
subdivisions have resulted in the construction of several houses behind another.

Buildings in the district are generally 1 1/2 to 2 1/2 stories in height and are in good to excellent
condition. Most are of wood-frame construction with clapboard or shingle sheathing; there are a
few instances of aluminum or vinyl siding. The Spaulding-Bottomley House (#11) is the only
house with a brick exterior, other historic houses may display masonry on the first floor. Several
buildings of recent construction display partial stone exteriors.

The Little Boar’s Head Historic District illustrates a range of styles of the nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries and includes examples of the Federal, Greek Revival, Second Empire, Gothic
Revival, Stick Style, Queen Anne, Shingle, Colonial Revival, Classical Revival and Craftsman.
Beginning in the late 19th century, many of the buildings were architect-designed, by prominent
Massachusetts practitioners as well as nationally-known architects such as Shepley, Rutan and
Coolidge of Chicago. The buildings were constructed by skilled local contractors including builder
Warren Moulton.

At least seven buildings were moved to new sites, still within the district, in the nineteenth and
early 20th century (#2, 3, 18, 19, 22, 54, 64, 67). Several other buildings were moved out of town
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altogether during the same period (Pierce House, Post Office) The evolution of the district has also
included the demolition of several local landmarks by their owners including Bachelder’s Hotel in
1929, the Governor Alvan Fuller house in 1961, the Vaux-Ingersoll House in 1964. Several
bathhouses which stood for more than a hundred years were destroyed in the great winter storm of
1978 which also pushed Fish House #6 into the road. Fortunately, like the other fishhouses, it was
reinforced with braces and made to float like a boat; it was later moved back into place. In 1989,
the former Garden House (#80B) was relocated to a new site, a short distance from its original
location on the Bell Cottage property.

Aside from the changes in physical location described above, alterations to buildings in the district
have been minimal. As has been mentioned, few buildings have been sheathed in artificial sidings
although changes to windows are more widespread. Within the district there are approximately ten
houses that are non-contributing due to their recent date of construction and one which is
considered non-contributing due to its degree of alteration.

A description of the individual properties which comprise the district follows, beginning at the
northern end of Ocean Boulevard and continuing southward to the southern terminus of the district,
followed by descriptions of properties along Willow Avenue, Chapel Road, Atlantic Avenue and
Sea Road. Building/site numbers are keyed to the attached sketch map. ‘
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Ocean Boulevard/Willow Avenue
1. Oceanfront Land, east of Ocean Boulevard to Atlantic Ocean. Contributing site.

From Fox Hill Point south, the shoreline has been reinforced by a boulder seawall. The concrete
seawall at the southern end of the district was constructed in 1935. A walking path extends along
the coastline north from the fishhouses, flanked by nine benches and grassy areas in some areas
while climbing over the bouldered seawall in others. Retaining walls are found throughout the
district in granite ashlar and rubblestone, many with stone or concrete caps.

A concrete sidewalk runs along the east side of Ocean Boulevard, spanning the entire length of the
district and terminating at the State Beach Parking Lot where a concrete seawall was constructed
in 1935. In various sections the oceanfront walking path climbs over bouldered seawalls. Other
sections pass through small grassy areas which are dotted by large rock outcroppings and lined on
the east side by low stone walls with concrete caps. A series of benches have been installed at
various vantage points since about 1980. These include wooden benches in memory of Caroline
Gage Lent (1901-1987) and Jo-Anne Lent Finke (1926-1996) [opposite property #11]; Jon J.
Gould (1953-1986) [opposite #12]; E.L. & R.H. Marcotte [opposite #15]; Jack Doheny [near
Atlantic Ave. intersection]; William Plumer Fowler (1900-1993) [opposite #79]; Mary Agnes
Casey [south of #36]. There is also a wooden bench installed in honor of Leo & Alice Appiani,
John & Edna White and William & Margaret Tarr [south of Atlantic Ave. intersection] and an
unmarked wooden bench [opposite property #8]. Just to the north of Fish House #12 there is a
granite bench erected in memory of Evelyn Hollister Perry (1891-1968) and Evelyn Perry Akin
(1929-1996).

At the north end of the fishhouses 1s a small garden area maintained by the Little Boars” Head
Garden Club. The garden was first planted by Mary Frye Frost in the early 1930s and has been
maintained by local garden enthusiasts since 1937. It is partially supported by funds from the
Little Boar’s Head Precinct annual budget. The garden at the south end of the fishhouses is
dedicated to Vonnie Knowles.

2. Latham House (Miramar Jaques Stable), 90 Ocean Boulevard, 1894/ moved to present
location about 1947. Contributing building.

Marking the northern boundary of the district, this building originally constituted the center section
of the stable of Capt. W.H. Jaques. It was originally located north of 74 Ocean Boulevard (#7).
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Sheathed in plain wood shingles, the 2 1/2-story building presents a gambrel front to the street,
punctuated by a central semicircular recess. Centered within the recess is a set of double doors
flanked by sidelights and displaying a fluted surround. There is a semicircular divided fanlight
over the entrance, flanked by a pair of smaller 6/2 windows to each side with an oval window at
the top of the elevation. To each side of the entrance there is a three-sided bay window with 6/2
sash which acts as a base for the gambrel above. Projecting from the north elevation, with its
saltbox profile, 1s a ¢.1940 enclosed porch. The south gable end is fronted by a single-story, hip-
roofed porch supported by paired Roman Doric columns resting on a concrete patio.

This building was moved to its present site by Edwin Post (Rockledge, Inc.) in the late 1940s and
converted to residential use. The stable with tenement was constructed in 1894 according to
designs by architects Stickney and Austin of Boston (Exeter News-Letter, July 20, 1894). S. W.
Dearbom of Hampton served as the contractor. The property was sold by Helen and Emmons
Philbrick to Ruth Earthrowl in 1953 and her descendants continue to own it today.

3. Earthrowl House (portion of Miramar Jaques), 88 Ocean Boulevard, c.1890/moved to
present location about 1947. Contributing building.

This building comprises the main portion of the home of Captain W.H. Jaques, known as

- “Miramar Jaques” and was originally constructed north of 74 Ocean Boulevard (#7) about 1890.
The 2 1/2-story dwelling displays a cross-gambrel plan and is sheathed in wood shingles in a
variety of patterns including plain, fishscale and staggered butt pattems. Two brick chimneys nise
from the ridge of the asphalt-shingled roof; the shed dormers are a later addition. The facade is
spanned by a pergola resting on square posts which extends across the north and south elevations.
The rear of the south side is enclosed by jalousie windows. The remaining windows include a mix
of 2/1 sash, mostly paired, and several doublehung windows with three vertical lights in the upper
sash and a single light below. Several of the latter windows are capped by entablature lintels with
dentil moldings. Extending from the rear elevation is a porch supported by Roman Doric columns.

William Jaques graduated from the Naval Academy in 1867 and served in the U.S. Navy until
1886 when he resigned to establish the manufacture of heavy ordnance and armor at Bethlehem
Iron Works. Captain Jaques was one of the pillars of the Little Boars Head summer colony in the
late 19th century. After the death of his first wife, the former Elizabeth Hale (daughter of John P.
Hale and sister of Senator William E. Chandler) in 1895, Jaques remarried. Estranged from his
former in-laws, Captain Jaques managed to confirm his ownership of the property through an
auction held in 1899. In 1905 Captain Jaques was elected to the first Board of Commissioners
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when Little Boar’s Head District was established by an act of the New Hampshire Legislature in
1905.

The Jaques house and stable was broken into four sections by Edwin Post (Rockledge, Inc.) in the
late 1940s. Two parts of the house are now located at 38 Atlantic Avenue (#84) and 40 Atlantic
Avenue (outside the National Register district and the Little Boar’s Head precinct) while the bulk
of the stable is visible at 90 Ocean Boulevard (#2). This portion of the house was bought by
Francis H. Earthrowl from Rockledge Inc. in 1951. It is presently owned by Dr. Francis H.
Earthrowl, Jr.

4. French-Fuller-Russell House, 34 Willow Avenue, 1904. Contributing building.

An impressive and eclectic, early 20th century dwelling, the French-Fuller-Russell House exhibits
elements of the Tudor, Italian Renaissance and Colonial Revival styles. The exterior of the side-
gabled building is stuccoed and embellished by copper downspouts. Rising from the wood-
shingled roof are several tall, rectangular brick chimneys, paneled with decorative chimney pots.

. The building is enlivened by a variety of projections including cross gables, an angled single-story
porch supported by Roman Doric columns, recessed porches and dormers. Marking the northern
corner of the house is a polygonal, two-story, five-sided projection lit by nine windows on each
level. Centered on the southwest elevation is a two-story projecting gable containing the main
entrance. The archway is defined by blocks and a keystone adorned by raised geometric
decoration. Flanking the entrance are two pairs of lonic columns resting on a joint pedestal.
Above the entrance is a raised diamond in a square design which is stuccoed. The porch to the
south displays a shed roof and an arched, recessed panel door with large iron hinges.

The windows are predominantly in multiple groups and display 6/9 sash with wide center mullions
between the windows. Other windows include paired and individual 6/6 sash, arched multi-light
sash, diamond-paned openings and an oriel window adjacent to the entrance.

Projecting from the facade and to the northwest of the main block is a two-story wing capped by a
steeply-pitched gable roof which extends to the first floor to shelter a recessed porch. To the west
of the main house is an attached side-gabled garage, constructed in 1998. Like the main house, the
garage is stuccoed. There are three vertical board garage doors facing the road, framed by Roman
Doric columns. The three upstairs dormers contain 6/1 windows. The tower at the northeast
comer has a pyramidal roof and bands of windows.
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The building is surrounded by a spacious open lawn which terraces downhill. Along Ocean
Boulevard there is a garden arch and gate. There is an eight foot-high brick wall along Willow
Avenue which encloses the garden with a wooden grid screen. A semicircular pergola is located
adjacent to the driveway.

This house was constructed in 1904 for Dr. Leonard Melville French and his wife, the former
Emma Blood, of Manchester. The house was designed by architect William G. Rantoul (1867-
1949) of Boston and Salem, Massachusetts. Local contractor Warren Moulton and mason Irving
Brown collaborated in the construction. Mrs. French named the property “Fox Hill”.

Both Dr. and Mrs. French were well known throughout the state, and especially in Manchester, for
their many charitable activities. Mrs. French donated the funds for the construction of the Institute
of Arts and Sciences in Manchester in 1916 (also designed by Rantoul), as well as the children’s
ward at Elliott Hospital and later with her brother-in-law, Frank Carpenter, gave the Carpenter
Memorial Parish House for the Congregational Church. The Willow Avenue house was later
inherited by the French’s daughter, Margaret, who married Carl Fuller in 1910. Their daughter,
Mary (Mrs. Henry Z. Russell), inherited the house in the 1960s. During their ownership, the
Russells winterized the property. Mrs. Russell died in 1995 and in 1998 the property was sold to
Tumer and Susan Porter. Since that time extensive renovations have taken place including the
construction of a two-story garage, adjacent to the main house and the subdivision of the original
carriage house onto a separate parcel of land. Mary Fuller Russell’s brother, Henry Fuller, retains
original architectural drawings for the building.

4A. Carriage House, 32 Willow Avenue, 1904. Contributing building.

This large carriage house echoes the spirit of the main house and is also stuccoed with a wood
shingle roof. The combination hip/gable roof has extended eaves and twin gables on the broad
elevation facing Willow Avenue. One of the gables caps a two-story, three-sided bay while the
other 1s set above an overhead garage door set into an arched frame. The eclectic mix of windows
includes 6/6, 4/4, 8/12, paired 4/8 and 3 x 2-lights. The elevated loft door displays 4 x 3-lights
over three vertical panels. A shed-roofed porch projects from the west gable end. The land on
which the building sits was recently subdivided from the main house.
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5. Vacant Lot, southwest comer of Ocean Boulevard and Willow Avenue. Contributing site.

This open, grassy lot is outlined by a stone wall. It was formerly the site of a house which was
moved to Rye Beach in the early 1920s. According to Henry Fuller, the house was built by
Captain Jaques following his remarriage. The Exeter News-Letter states that the house was built
in 1905 for Jaques by S.W. Dearborn of Hampton, to the left of his former house. The second
Mrs. Jaques who lived her last years in Washington, was reportedly a recluse who occupied the
house for only brief periods. In the late 1920s it was bought by Mrs. French so she could have an
unobstructed view of the ocean from her house (#4). The house was moved in two sections on
rollers to a site on Central Road, west of the old Farragut Hotel. Mrs. Fuller bought the adjacent
lot to the southwest (the site of the Jaques barn) when it became available from Edwin Post after
World War 1L

6. “Fox Hill”, 78 Ocean Boulevard, ¢.1925. Contributing building.

Located on a promontory known as Fox Hill Point, “Fox Hill” displays a blend of details from
both the Colonial Revival and Italian Renaissance styles. The two-story dwelling is basically
rectangular in plan, capped by a slate, hip roof, with a stuccoed exterior. Centered on the five-bay
facade, the limestone entrance consists of a shallow portico consisting of Ionic columns supporting
a semicircular arch adomed by a keystone and dentil course. A central wall dormer rises from the
facade and is flanked by two arched dormers. Decorative iron details include grillwork at the front
door, lighting fixtures flanking the entrance, the railing above the entrance and the S-shaped
anchors on the chimneys; the downspouts are copper. All of the first floor facade openings contain
double French doors capped by divided semicircular lights with semicircular trellis work
surrounds. With the exception of the central tripartite window, the second floor openings consist
of paired 6/6 sash with wide vertical muntins.

Extending at an angle from each of the front comers is a single-story, flat-roofed distyle in antis
portico consisting of stuccoed piers and Roman Doric columns. Multi-glass doors access these
areas. There is a patio in front of the house, bordered by a stone wall. An iron fence marks the
northern boundary of the yard. Mature pine trees and ornamental plantings adorn the front yard.
Two pairs of stone pillars capped by iron lamps with bronze plaques on the front face, flank the
gravel driveway.

The land on which this house stands was sold in 1920 by Josiah and Mary Fowler to William D.
Hannah, a shoe manufacturer from Brooklyn, New York. Deeds indicate that there were buildings
present on the one-acre lot in 1920 although it appears that the house was built during Hannah’s
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ownership. Alvan T. Fuller owned the property from 1922 until 1928 at which time he sold it to
Mary and Andrew Nutting. The Nutting family continued to own it until 1971. According to local
historian, Robert Southworth, the house bumed once and was rebuilt, a fact which was verified by
Henry Fuller.

6A. Garage, c.1925. Contributing building.

To the west of the house is a stuccoed, two-story building capped by a jerkinhead roof punctuated
by a tall stuccoed chimney. Fenestration includes sliding glass doors and three overhead garage

doors.
6B. Pool, c.1930. Contributing structure.

To the north of the house is a rectangular pool with semicircular projections on the narrow ends.
Five freestanding marble columns rise from each of these ends. To the west of the pool is a
pergola supported by squat concrete columns with a latticed grid screen. Adjacent is a stone
fountain with a bowl on a pedestal and a lion’s head water spout.

7. Lewis House, 74 Ocean Boulevard, c.1880/alt. c.1900. Contributing building.

This c¢.1880 oceanfront cottage has witnessed extensive alterations and expansions during its
lifetime, most appear to date to the early 20th century. Historic photographs indicate that the
house was originally a fairly simple 2 1/2-story dwelling with a hipped roof which rose to a point
and a cross gable extending to the north. The three-bay facade was fronted by a single-story porch
supported by simple posts. Visible in historic photos, the distinctive brick chimney with arched
openings and twin bell chimney pots remains today. Today, the 2 1/2-story, dwelling displays a
broad, bowed upper story punctuated by twelve 6/1 windows. The first floor of the house is
sheathed in clapboards while the upper level is covered with plain wood shingles. Spanning the
facade and portions of the adjacent elevations is a single-story porch, six bays wide, supported by
paired Roman Doric columns on paneled pilasters, with sets of three columns at the comers. The
first floor openings consist of modem sliding doors and a large hip dormer containing four
windows rises from the front and side roof slopes of the broad hip roof. Extending behind the main
house is a large three-story, hip-roofed wing. A ballroom is located on the third story of the house.
0Odd details including exposed rafters on the first and second stories of the north elevation suggest
that the wing incorporates an earlier, smaller wing. Fenestration includes an oriel window,
tripartite windows and a mix of 6/2 and 6/1 sash. Behind the rear porch a single-story links the
wing and a six-sided, clapboarded garden structure capped by a conical roof.
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This house was constructed for Frances A. Lewis of Philadelphia who purchased the land “near the
summer dwellinghouse of John Peabody” in 1832. A brief mention in the Exeter News-Letter on
April 18, 1902 indicated that Mrs. Francis A. Lewis will open her summer hotel at Little Boar’s
Head at the end of the month. The house remained in the Lewis family until 1926. Frederick and
Josephine Murphy acquired the property in 1944 and descendants continued to own it until 1980.

7A. Carnage House, ¢.1920. Contributing building.

To the rear of the house is a two-story carriage house, rectangular in plan and set with its broad
side to the street, adjacent to the gravel driveway which extends from Ocean Boulevard to Willow
Avenue. The clapboarded building is capped by an asphalt hip roof and rests on a concrete
foundation. A dentil molding runs above the first floor openings which include a doublewide and
two individual overhead garage doors as well as a central entrance. Upstairs the fenestration
consists of paired 6/1 windows and multi-light strips. A single-story addition projects from the
rear.

7B. Pool, 1968. Noncontributing structure (due to age).
Across the dniveway, to the north of the house, is an inground pool surrounded by a concrete patio.
7C. Poolhouse, 1968. Noncontributing building (due to age).

Across the driveway, to the north of the house is a modern poolhouse constructed of square
concrete blocks with pyramid-shaped skylights emerging from the flat roof. On each end of the
poolhouse there is a square pavilion capped by a steeply-pitched, asphalt-shingled roof.
Continuous single-pane bronze windows face the pool.

8. Williams-Merritt House, (“Willow Wind”), 25 Willow Avenue (through to Ocean
Boulevard), 1903/alt. ¢.1964. Contributing building.

This Colonial Revival dwelling was originally a more modest dwelling, part of the adjacent
Williams estate (#9). Set back from Ocean Boulevard by an expansive front lawn, 25 Willow
Avenue is a 2 1/2-story dwelling, sheathed in vinyl siding, capped by an asphalt-shingled hip-roof
and oriented with its three-bay facade to the ocean. The center sidelit entrance is sheltered by a
bellcast roof supported by columns and flanked by two multilight bowed modem picture windows.
The second floor of the facade is punctuated by three broad 6/6 windows flanked by blinds. A hip
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dormer is centered on the front roof slope with two brick chimneys rising from the rear slope.
Flanking each side of the main house is a two-story hyphen, a single-bay wide and fronted by a
single-story enclosed porch. A variety of projections are visible from the Willow Avenue side
including an attached three-car garage facing the circular driveway.

This house was originally a much smaller dwelling located on the grounds of the Norman Williams
estate (#9) and was constructed several years after the completion of the main house. The May 8,
1903 issue of the Exeter News-Letter reported that John Berry had completed a tasteful cottage for
Mrs. Norman Williams, at the east of her own, for the occupancy of her son-in-law, Maj. Gen.
Wesley Merritt, U.S.A., retired. The General and Mrs. Merritt were to spend the summer at Little
Boar’s Head, amving in June. The building is depicted on a 1907 plan of the estate surveyed by
J.A. Brown (Plan 320, Rockingham County Registry of Deeds). The house appears to have been
subdivided from the larger property after Alvan Fuller acquired the entire parcel from Katherine
Lea Hancock in 1929. After their 1930 marnage Betsy Cushing and Jimmy Roosevelt (son of
President Franklin Roosevelt) rented this house. It was sold by Fuller to Harriet Staley of Grosse
Point, Michigan in 1932. Mrs. Staley’s estate (Elizabeth Staley Sanger and John Perkins) sold it
to Alvan T. Fuller, Jr. in 1964, who apparently enlarged it to its present size. Peter Fuller sold the
property in 1974. It is presently owned by Robert and Cynthia Lee, who purchased the property in
1982.

8A. Pool House, c.1940. Contributing building.

Set close to Willow Avenue, this single-story, vinyl sided building rests on a concrete foundation.
A large brick chimney rises from the asphalt-shingled, gable roof. Fenestration includes a wooden
door displaying 3 x 2 lights over vertical panels and elevated horizontal windows. The building
connects to a single-story ell set at right angles and punctuated by a set of three modemn 4/4
windows.

8B. Pool, 1978. Noncontributing structure (due to age).

According to local building records, the present inground pool dates to 1978. It is surrounded by a
concrete patio and screened by a woven wooden lath fence.
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9. Williams House, 19 Willow Avenue (through to Ocean Boulevard), 1898. Contributing
building.

An impressive Colonial Revival, oceanfront mansion, the Williams House is presently undergoing
extensive renovations and alterations. The house occupies a five acre parcel of land accessed by a
long tree-lined driveway that extends from Ocean Boulevard and a shorter driveway off Willow
Avenue. Setback from the ocean road by an expansive lawn, the 2 1/2-story, hip-roofed dwelling
is dominated by a central portico supported by four Corinthian columns rising the height of the
building and echoed by Ionic pilasters along the wall. Above the columns is an abbreviated
balustrade alternating sections of turned balusters and wall panels. Historic photographs indicate
that this portico is not original to the building although the single-story porch which extends under
the portico is and was originally five bays wide with a balustrade. Supported by plain posts, it is
capped by the original geometric wood railing; a porte cochere at the south end has been removed.
The wood-clapboarded building is capped by a slate roof and rests on a mortared stone foundation.
Wrapping around the entire building is a cornice combining a dentil course and wide frieze. The
center entrance displays a semieliptical surround with side and transom lights. To each side of the
entrance there is a large modem plate glass window. Fenestration upstairs includes 8/8 sash and
French doors. Three pedimented dormers rise from the front slope including a center dormer
containing two 6/6 windows and individual dormers to each side. Additional dormers are located
on the lesser elevations and a series of tall brick chimneys rise from the roof. A single-story
enclosed porch extends from the north elevation with a single-story, flat-roofed addition and back
porch projecting from the south. A fieldstone patio and circular driveway face Willow Avenue.

This house was constructed in 1897-8 for Norman Williams, noted Chicago lawyer and executive
of the Pullman Car Company. Williams’ many philanthropic gestures included the gift of a library
building to his birthplace, Woodstock, Vermont. The Williams House was designed by the
nationally-prominent architectural firm of Shepley, Rutan and Coolidge of Chicago. The contract
for the work was awarded to Warren B. Moulton of North Hampton. A total of 25 carpenters and
plasterers were engaged on the job and the site required 4,300 loads of fill over a period of six
months.

The property was sold by Caroline Williams to David Hyman in 1907. It then encompassed 14-15
acres of land including land on both sides of Willow Avenue, two residences (see #8) and a garage
. across the road ( #39, 24 Willow Avenue). The 1907 plan of the property shows stone walls along
Willow Avenue and Ocean Boulevard and a wild rose hedge planted along the former. Other
landscape features included a sunken laundry yard, flower bed and roses near the house and a
vegetable garden near the garage. Edward Kuhn of Kuhn Loeb, international bankers, lived in the
house around the time of World War I. Nina Lea of Philadelphia acquired the house in 1925 and it
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was sold by her estate to Alvan Fuller in 1929. The house was until recently owned by Peter
Fuller.

9A. Kennel Building, c.1930. Contributing building.

Behind the house, set near Willow Avenue is a small shed sheathed in novelty siding and capped by -
a gable roof.

9B. Tennis Court, c. 1980. Noncontributing structure (due to age).

To the north of the house is a modern paved tennis court surrounded by a chain link fence.

10. Fuller-Halsey House, 15 Willow Avenue (through to Ocean Boulevard), 1914. Contributing
building.

Originally constructed adjacent to Governor Fuller’s house which 1s no longer extant, 15 Willow
Avenue is another Colonial Revival mansion sited to take advantage of oceanfront views. Fronted
by a flagstone patio, the two-story dwelling is sheathed in a rusticated wood siding with wooden
quoining and is capped by a slate, hip roof with projecting eaves adorned by a modillion comice.

A serices of tall brick chimneys capped by two and three pots rise from the roof. The center bay on
the five-bay facade is indented slightly. The entrance is flanked by sidelights with Roman Doric
columns supporting a shallow comice embellished by modillions and dentils. Above the entrance is
a set of four 4/4 windows, above which five large brackets support the central comice. The first
floor facade openings contain French doors with entablature lintels that are supported on each end
by a small bracket. The second floor windows contain 6/6 sash and two hip dormers rise from the
front roof slope. The nearly symmetrical hyphens consist of two-story wings which step back
slightly. The mix of window types on the balance of the house includes individual 8/8 sash and
tripartite sets of 8/8 windows, 6/6 sash and casements. Projecting from the north end of the main
house is a two-story, hip-roofed wing which terminates in a rear porch set in a rectangular recess
with comer brackets. Centered on the rear elevation of the main house and abutting the adjacent ell
1s a more formal entrance capped by a quarterround portion supported by Roman Doric columns
and decorated by modillions. Sheltered by the entrance is a vertical board door with partial
sidelights. Above the entrance is a large window consisting of four 2 x 4 light units and capped by
a semi-elliptical fanlight with curved geometric tracery.

From Willow Avenue, a concrete driveway extends to the rear of the house, ending 1n a circular
cul-de-sac.
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This house was built by Gov. Alvan Fuller for his mother, Mrs. Flora Fuller. The builder was
Walter Moulton. It was later occupied by his sister, Martha Halsey and subsequently passed o her
daughter, Hope Halsey Talbot (later Swasey). Mrs. Swasey sold the property to the present
owners in 1994,

10A. Garage, 1914. Contributing building

Facing Willow Avenue, to the north of the house, is a single-story, flat-roofed garage building
which like the main house is sheathed in rusticated wood siding with corner quoins and a modillion
cornice. There are three overhead garage doors facing Willow Avenue, capped by tripartite
transoms. To each side of the garage is a fieldstone addition of slightly lesser height.

11. Spaulding-Bottomley House, “Balmoral”, 58 Ocean Boulevard (or 5 Willow Avenue),
1930-2. Contributing building.

The Spaulding House 1s an impressive brick Colonial Revival dwelling which is set on a large lot
extending from Ocean Boulevard to Willow Avenue. Completed in 1932, the two-story dwelling is
capped by a slate hip roof with two large paneled brick chimneys and a modillion comice. The
house is oriented with its narrow four-bay end facing the ocean and its main facade, seven bays
wide, oriented northward. The center entrance has a paneled door which is capped by a transom
and crowned by an iron railing above. Windows primarily consist of 6/6 sash, framed by blinds,
while arched dormers punctuate the north and west roof slopes. Projecting from the ivy-covered
south elevation is a single-story glazed porch lit by continuous 6/6 windows framed by pilasters.

This brick Colonial Revival dwelling was constructed in 1930-2 for Huntley N. Spaulding, who
served as Governor of New Hampshire from 1927-1928. The land was once part of the property
of Franklin Pierce and the house which was formerly on the site was moved to 788 High Street in
Hampton by a Col. Ashworth. After Gov. Spaulding’s death in 1955, the Spaulding property was
acquired by Alvan T. Fuller in 1956. It is presently owned by Gov. Fuller’s daughter, Lydia
Bottomley, widow of Dr. George Bottomley.

11A. Garage, 1930-32. Contributing building.
To the west of the house is a single-story brick garage, also capped by a hip, slate roof, from which

rise a series of hip dormers containing 6/6 sash. There is an extension to the east and a greenhouse
addition projecting from the south wall. Four overhead garage doors punctuate the north wall.
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11B. Gate, c.1910. Contributing object.

To the north of the house, facing Willow Avenue, is a set of four stone posts with molded concrete
caps. Each pair of posts is linked by a lower, curved section of stone wall. An iron gate links the
two inner posts. This gate was formerly associated with the Gov. Alvan Fuller house, constructed
in 1910 and removed in 1961.

12. Stott House, 54 Ocean Boulevard, c.1880. Noncontributing building (due to alteration).

Although heavily rehabilitated in recent years, the general outline of this oceanfront dwelling has
not changed all that much from the house constructed by C.A. Stott c.1880. As shown in historic
photographs, the original wood-frame dwelling consisted of a central block with a hip roof
extending to the first floor porch and a series of cross-gables (now hip roofed) extending outward.
The exterior was clad in an eclectic mixture of decorative wood shingles, brick and clapboards
with half-timbered details in at least one of the gables. The granite posts that frame the circular
driveway and the front stone wall are onginal to the property, as is the rear bam.

In its present appearance, the house displays a stone and stuccoed exterior and the hip roof is
sheathed in asphalt shingles. Projecting from the building are a variety of hip dormers, tall stone
chimneys, decks and rounded projections. Fenestration consists primarily of bands of tall, single-
pane casement windows; the double front doors are modemn vamished units. To the northwest of
the main house is a single-story addition capped by a steeply pitched pyramid roof and punctuated
by diamond pane windows with an adjacent modem deck. The rear elevation of the house displays
a jerkinhead roof. At the rear of the dwelling there is an attached three-car garage with pointed
arch openings and a steeply pitched pyramidal roof.

This seemingly-modem house incorporates the cottage occupied for many years by Col. C.A. Stott,
former mayor of Lowell, Massachusetts and a long time summer resident of Little Boar’s Head.
The architect of the original house was F.W. Stickney of Lowell.

12A. Barn, c.1880. Contributing building.
Facing Willow Avenue is the property’s original gablefront bam, sheathed in wood shingles, and

flanked on each side by a lower single-story hyphen. The center opening facing Willow Avenue
has been covered with vertical boards and is capped by a dentil molding. There is a vertical board
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loft door above and a modem 6/6 window under the projecting eaves. The elevation facing the
house displays two overhead garage doors and a new 6/6 window.

13. Bell-Sullivan House, 48 Ocean Boulevard, 1898. Contributing building.

Expressing the transition from the Shingle Style of the 1880s and the Colonial Revival of the
1890s, the Bell-Sullivan House consists of a main 2 1/2-story, 3 x 3-bay dwelling which is box-like
in plan, with a 2 1/2-story wing extending at an angle to the northwest. The house is capped by a
steeply-pitched hip roof, punctuated by a series of tall, brick chimneys and hip-roofed dormers; the
exposed rafters show a Crafisman influence. It is sheathed in clapboards and rests on a stone
foundation. Originally shingled and stained dark brown, the house was clapboarded and painted
white in the 1920s. The dwelling displays a symmetrical three-bay facade facing the ocean. The
center entrance contains a wide door framed by sidelights filled with geometric tracery. Sheltering
the entrance is a hip-roofed porch, a single-bay wide, supported by paired Roman Doric columns.
A similarly-detailed, but wider porch, fronts the wing entrance and extends along the north end of
the main house. The enclosed porch which spans the south end of the house also displays Roman
Doric columns. The predominant window form is a doublehung 8/1 sash flanked by blinds on the
main house and a 6/1 sash on the wing. There is a three-sided oniel window filled with diamond
panes over the entrance as well as on the adjacent wing. Diamond-paned windows also fill the
dormer openings.

This house was constructed in 1898 for Mrs. Charles H. Bell (the former Mary E. Gilman) of
Exeter, the widow of the late Governor Charles H. Bell, and a senior member of the Little Boar’s
Head summer colony, who first summered here in 1866. It replaced an earlier dwelling which was
sold to William Woods and moved to Willow Avenue and later demolished (the site of the present
Fuller Gardens parking lot). The present house was designed by Boston architects Wales and Holt,
whose other projects included residences in Cambridge and Chestnut Hill, Massachusetts and
Center Sandwich, New Hampshire. The design for this house was featured in the Catalog of the
Architectural Exhibition of the Boston Architectural Club and the Boston Society of Architects
held at the St. Botolph Club from May 22 - June 3, 1899. The elaborate interior woodwork in the
oval dining room was the work of Rev. Nathaniel T. Ridlon, minister of the Little River Church.

The bam actually predates the existing main house by several years. An item published in the
Exeter News-Letter on May 29, 1896 indicated that Mrs. C. H. Bell was having a stable built in
the rear of her residence, from plans by architects Wales and Holt of Boston. The building was
constructed by local contractor Warren B. Moulton.
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Mary Gilman Bell (who was the aunt of Sarah Ome Jewett) built the present house as a permanent
home for an unmarried daughter from her first marnage, Mary L. Gilman. Miss Gilman, who was
born in and continued to live in the old Gilman homestead in Exeter, was a semi-invalid following a
hip injury at the age of 17. In 1902, Mrs. Bell deeded the house to her daughter, who moved there
permanently after her mother’s death in 1904.

In 1918 the property was sold by Miss Gilman’s estate to Frank Carpenter of Manchester for the
use of his only daughter, Mary C. (Mrs. Charles) Manning. The family continued to summer there
cven after the death of Charles Manning in 1924 and their son Frank Manning in 1928. In 1932,
Mrs. Manning’s only surviving child, Priscilla, married John L. Sullivan, who served as Secretary
of the Navy from 1947-9 under President Harry Truman. Residing in Washington, D.C. the
remainder of the year, the Sullivans continued to summer here until Mrs. Sullivan’s death in 1994,
The property is still owned by their descendants today.

13A. Barn, 1896. Contributing building.

Behind the house is a two-story, hip-roofed carriage house which is square in plan and measures
three bays to a side. Centered on the facade is a doonway capped by a simple entablature lintel,
remaining openings consist primarily of 6/6 sash. A square ventilator is centered on the roof. A
two-story ell extends to the rear.

14. Baker-Hollister House, “Sea Verge”, 46 Ocean Boulevard, 1882. Contributing building.

An excellent example of late 19th century eclectic architecture, the Baker-Hollister House displays
irregular plan and massing, and a variety of texture, window treatments, roof pitches and
decorative details which are typical of the Queen Anne influence. The building is sheathed on the
first floor by clapboards with decorative wood shingles in butt-end, notched and scalloped patterns
above. It is set above a stone foundation with a wide angled watertable. Undemeath the projecting
eaves there is a two-part frieze defined by a raised central molding. A single-story porch (now
partially enclosed) wraps around the facade and adjacent side elevations, supported by plain posts
which are incised on each face by three vertical lines. The posts are spanned by arched members
and there is a geometric stick balustrade. Breaking the uniformity of the main hipped roof are a
series of lower cross gables, decorated by scalloped shingles and sunburst panels. Above the
center entrance a second-story porch is tucked between the gables. Also rising from the roof are a
series of hipped dormers and tall, brick chimneys. On the south side of the building an exterior
brick chimney with brick corbel cap breaks through the pent roof which encloses the shingled gable
and is supported by four jigsawn brackets. The variety of window types includes windows which
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are banded, in pairs and in sets of three. Sash configurations which are represented include 9/2,
6/2, 9/6, and casements; a five-sided bay window projects from the north elevation. Most of the
windows display simple surrounds and many are flanked by blinds. Extending behind the main
house block 1is a two-story, hip-roofed projection set above a larger, one-story, low-gabled section.
Projecting from the south side is a modern grecnhouse addition.

The Baker-Hollister House is notable for the fact that it has remained in the same family since its
construction in 1882. According to the Bell Cottage log, “Miss Baker” bought this land, the house
lot next to Govemor Bell, in 1882. Deeds confirm that Mary E. Baker of Cincinnati purchased the
land from James Parsons in 1882. According to the present owner, the house was designed by
architect F.W. Stickney of Lowell, Massachusetts. The property was transferred from Mary Baker
to her sister, Phebe Baker in 1897. After Phebe Baker’s death in 1909, the property passed to a
niece and her husband, Judge and Mrs. Hollister (her mother was Phebe and Mary’s sister, Julia
Baker Keyes). In 1927 Howard and George Hollister conveyed the property to Evelyn Hollister
Perry. The property is now owned by her daughter, Phebe Perry Mixter, and her husband, Jim.

During the ownership of Judge Hollister, President William H. Taft was a guest here. The Taft
and Hollister families were associated in a prestigious Cincinnati law firm. Poet Ogden Nash
rented the house in the 1950s.

14A. Garage, c.1910. Contributing building.

Set behind the main house is a single-story garage capped by an asphalt hip roof with projecting
eaves decorated by simple brackets. Projecting from both the front and rear roof slopes is a gable
dormer with shallow returns and a 6/6 window. The building rests on a stone foundation. The
facade is sheathed in vertical flushboard while the remaining elevations are wood-shingled. The
oniginal facade openings have been replaced with modem overhead doors. The side walls are
punctuated by 4 x 3-light, hinged windows. A shed bump-out projects from the rear elevation and
is sheathed in T111 siding.

14B. Shed, ¢.1980. Noncontributing building (due to age).

To the rear of the house is a small 5’ by 5” shed which is clapboarded and capped by a gable,
asphalt roof.
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15. “Cliff Cottage”, 44 Ocean Boulevard, c¢.1880. Contributing building.

Located at the northwest corner of Ocean Boulevard and Atlantic Avenue, Cliff Cottage is a 2 1/2-
story, gablefront dwelling bearing the influence of the Stick Style. The building rests on a brick
foundation and excepting for the board-and-batten siding in the gable ends, the building has been
sheathed in aluminum siding (which may obscure additional Stick Style detailing). It is capped by
an asphalt-shingled dwelling which displays projecting eaves adored by a molded raking with
decorative jigsawn brackets decorated by “x”’s and foliate omament at the base of the eaves and a
stick rising from the top of the gable. The gable ends are sheathed in vertical siding. A single-
story porch, now enclosed with screens, wraps around the facade and south elevation. It is
supported by jigsawn posts and displays a geometric railing and latticed airspace. The
predominant window form is a 1/1 replacement sash with an angled shed lintel. The center
entrance is flanked by full length windows. A two-story flat-roofed projection is located at the
southwest corner of the building. The single-story wing at the rear is fronted by a modem deck and
terminates with a ¢.1910 attached garage displaying double doors with 4 x 2-lights over four

vertical panels.

This property was one of three cottages in Little Boar’s Head owned by the Bell-White Family in
the late 19th century and rented out to various tenants over the years. Summer tenants included
authoress Amelie Rives Chanler (1893), Charles Isham of Springfield, Illinois (son-in-law of
Robert T. Lincoln, 1894), Schumiere of St. Paul (1895), Arthur L. Hobson of Haverhill,
Massachusetts (1900) and Mr. Drummond of St. Louis (1903).

The Exeter News-Letter reported in 1894 that Mrs. George Hills of Lawrence, Massachusetts was
making improvements and additions to her “Cliff Cottage™ although the nature of the
improvements is not described. George Hills conveyed the property to Mary White in 1897.
Deeds indicate that John Bell and Richard Bell conveyed their half interest in the property to Mary
and Elizabeth White in 1907. According to the Bell Cottage log, the Cliff Cottage was enlarged
and improved in 1907, with additional alterations made in 1941. Dr. Raymond Marcotte
purchased the property from the estate of Elizabeth Clemons in 1949 and family members retain
ownership today.

15A. Barn, 19th century. Contributing butlding.
To the west of the house, fronting the circular drive is a two-story carriage house, capped by a hip

roof and square ventilator. The symmetrical facade facing Atlantic Avenue has four openings on
each story - two individual vertical board doors near the center with 6/6 windows in the outer bays.
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15B. Shed, c.1880. Contributing building.

Set at right angles to the barn is a small shed sheathed in board and batten siding. The building
displays an asymmetrical gable roof with the front roof slope overhang supported by simple
brackets. The broad elevation facing the house has a large vertical board door, with an adjacent
6/6 window and door.

16. Studebaker House, “Breakers” or “Breaknolle”, 40 Ocean Boulevard, 1874/alt. ¢.1910.
Contributing building.

Originally Stick Style in appearance, this large oceanfront dwelling was substantially enlarged and
updated in the Colonial Revival style in the early 20th century. In its present configuration, the
house consists of a 2 1/2-story, hip-roofed main block with a wing of similar height and detailing
extending to the west. The building is sheathed in aluminum siding and is capped by an asphalt-
shingled roof displaying projecting eaves supported by large brackets and from which several tall
brick chimneys rise. The two elevations facing the ocean are fronted by a single-story porch
supported by Roman Doric columns. The north end of the porch has been enclosed with 4/1
windows, some of which are capped by semicircular louvered fans. The main entrance faces south
and is capped by a semi-elliptical fanlight and sidelights filled with geometric tracery. On either
side of the entrance there is a three-sided, two-story projection, that to the west rests on top of a
single-story sunroom with rounded glass windows. An additional entrance facing the driveway
consists of fluted Ionic columns supporting a broken pediment supported by two large consoles and
decorated by dentils. Windows on the building contain a mixture of 1/1 windows, both individual
and in pairs. A series of hip dormers rise from the roof, one of the windows retains what appears
to be an original 6/6 sash. Projecting from the north side of the house 1s a four-story tower which
is square in plan and capped by a pyramidal roof. A small deck is located at the third floor level of
the tower, facing the ocean.

According to the Bell Cottage log, the frame of this house was erected for Miss Marsh in 1874.
Deeds confirm that Elizabeth Marsh purchased the land from George Garland in 1874 for $300.

In 1891 Elizabeth White purchased the land and dwelling for $2000 from John Marsh. Soon
thereafter, the Bell Cottage log indicates that Mr. and Mrs. White were “busy furnishing the Marsh
House to let”. During the White’s ownership, the house became known as “The Breakers”. Joseph
Merrill of Exeter rented the house for the summer of 1891. The Exeter News-Letter indicates that
in 1894 John Hobson, wealthy paper manufacturer of Haverhill, Massachusetts took the cottage
known as “Breakers”. According to the paper it had been occupied for several seasons by H.O.
Houghton. In 1896 the house was occupied by the Walkers of Concord, New Hampshire and
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Savannah, Georgia. The Harveys of Cleveland rented the house in 1898 and Charles McGregor of
Haverhill let the house in 1905. The Breakers was sold by Mary and Elizabeth White in the spring
of 1909 to Mrs. George (Ada) Studebaker of South Bend, Indiana. It would appear that the
Studebakers were responsible for the Colonial Revival alterations to the house. Col. George
Studebaker was an executive of the Studebaker Corporation, the largest maker of horse-drawn
vehicles in the world during the late 19th century and later, manufacturers of automobiles. The
Studebaker family continued to own the property until 1936; the following year it was sold to
Catherine Foley. John and Clara Higgins purchased the property in 1940. John Higgins, president
of the Worcester Pressed Steel Company, was considered one of the foremost authorities on, and
collectors, of medieval armor in the United States. The property was acquired by the Costello
family in 1962.

16A. Barn/Carriage House, ¢.1870. Contributing building.

To the north of the house the brick driveway terminates at a 1 1/2-story building with two garage
doors on its gable front, capped by a modem tripart opening. A rear ell faces the ocean with
sliding glass doors.

17. Emonds House, 38 Ocean Bouievard, 1995. Noncontributing building (due to age).

This neo-Victorian, wood-shingled house was constructed in 1995 on land which was originally
part of the Bell Cottage property at 4 Atlantic Avenue (#79). Three stories in height, the house is
oriented with its gablefront facing the ocean, accented by a two-story, five-sided projection capped
by a segmental conical roof. Adjacent is a single-story, flat-roofed section topped by a deck. Most
of the windows contain 12/12 sash; a Palladian window is located at the<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>